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Qiana Rivas appeals her 18-month sentence for conspiracy to commit mail
fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. She argues that defense counsel’s dual

representation of her and a co-conspirator at their respective sentencing hearings
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violated her Sixth Amendment right to conflict-free counsel. We have jurisdiction
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291. Reviewing the district court’s decision de novo, we
affirm. United States v. Nickerson, 556 F.3d 1014, 1018 (9th Cir. 2009).

While counsel likely violated California Rule of Professional Conduct 3-
310(C) by failing to obtain informed consent for his joint representation of Rivas
and her co-conspirator, this failure is not a per se violation of the Sixth
Amendment. Nickerson, 556 F.3d at 1019. To establish a Sixth Amendment
violation, a defendant who failed to object to the conflict must demonstrate through
a factual showing in the record that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected
her lawyer’s performance. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 348 (1980); Bragg v.
Galaza, 242 F.3d 1082, 1087 (9th Cir.), amended on denial of reh’g, 253 F.3d
1150 (9th Cir. 2001).

Counsel’s refusal to appeal Rivas’s sentence for fear it might jeopardize the
co-conspirator’s upcoming sentencing demonstrates a conflict of interest. But this
claim is moot. Any prejudice potentially accruing to Rivas was cured when the
district court reinstated her right to directly appeal her sentence and appointed her
new counsel for appeal.

Rivas’s other arguments fail to establish an actual conflict. Rivas claims that

“both parties revealed confidential information” to defense counsel and that Rivas



and her co-conspirator had “opposing” interests; however, Rivas fails to identify
what confidential information was disclosed or how it was used to Rivas’s
disadvantage. Rivas also claims that counsel failed to advocate for Rivas as a
government witness because she would have testified against the co-conspirator.
But, her cooperation was acknowledged by all parties and significantly rewarded
with a “rare and exceptional” six-level reduction for cooperation. Finally, that
counsel did not mention the co-conspirator’s probationary sentence during Rivas’s
sentencing hearing is not evidence of a conflict; the co-conspirator had not yet
been sentenced, and there 1s no evidence in the record suggesting that counsel was
aware that the co-conspirator would receive only probation. This type of
speculation regarding a conflict of interest is not enough to establish a Sixth
Amendment violation. Sullivan, 446 U.S. at 350.

AFFIRMED.



